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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
WESTERN DIVISION

CLARENCE RUDOLPH ADOLPHUS, Case Nos. CR 04-215 CAS,
CR 04-402 CAS,

Petitioner, CV 16-8800 CAS,
CV 16-8871 CAS
VS.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF ERROR
CORAM NOBIS (CV 16-8800-CAS,
Dkt. 1, filed November 28, 2016)

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Respondent.

l. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

On January 16, 2007, petitioner ClacerRudolph Adolphus pleaded guil
to one count of conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute a controlled
substance, in violation of 21 U.S.C. 88 841(a)(1), 846; one count of conspir:
launder money, in violation of 21 U.S.€8 1956(a)(1), 1956§, 1957; one coun
of tax evasion, in violation of 26 U.G. § 7201; and one couat obstructing due
administration of the internal revenue laws, in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7212(
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CR Dkt. 669" On October 18, 2007, petitionfiled a motion to withdraw his
guilty plea, arguing that: (1) his plea amuy was deficient because the Court
not properly explore the factual basis fbe plea; and (2) his plea was involunt
because he was subject to undue pressline Court denied petitioner’'s motion
on January 22, 2008. See United Statesdolphus, No. CR 04-215 CAS, 200¢
WL 11301048 (C.D. Cal. Jan. 22, 2008).

On July 27, 2010, the Court sentenpatitioner to a total term of 168
months imprisonment followed by a four-yeéarm of supervised release. CR [
764. On August 3, 2010, petitioner apgebhis sentence, arguing that: (1) the
Court violated Federal Rule of Crimin@tocedure 32 and prevented meaningdf

appellate review by failing tmake sufficient findings in response to his object
to the aggravating role adjustmeaiid (2) the Court erred by applying an
aggravating role adjustment under U.& S8 3B1.1(a) because there was no
evidence that he had control and authamitgr another participant with regard t
the money laundering offense. CR Dk&7. The Ninth Circuit rejected both

arguments and affirmed petitioner’s semen See United States v. Adolphus, 5

F. App’x 469, 470 (9th Cir. 2013).

On June 10, 2016, petitioner compleleslterm of imprisonment and was

subsequently detained by U.S. Immigoatand Customs Enforcement (“ICE”)

! Petitioner filed the same petition for writ of eromram nobis with respec
to two underlying criminal case€ase Nos. CR 04-215 CAS and CR 04-402
CAS. The corresponding civil docketimbers are CV 16-8800-CAS and CV 1
8871-CAS. In Case No. CR 04-215 CASgrand jury indicted defendant on
February 27, 2004 on the tax evasion andrabs8on charges. Thereafter, on A
13, 2004, in Case No. CR 04-402 CAS, angraury issued a four-count indictm
against defendant and eight other co-defendants, which included the consp
charges to which defendant pleaded guiltynless otherwise noted, “CR” refers

the docket in CR 04-402 CAS and “CV'fees to the docket in CV 16-8800 CA
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the LaSalle Detention Facility in d&, Louisiana and placed in removal
proceedings. CV Dkt. 1 (“Pet.”) at 5-6. Proceeqingse, petitioner filed the
instant petition for writ of errocoram nobis on November 28, 2016 while still in
ICE custody and subject to supervise@ask._See id. On June 18, 2017, the
government filed an opposition. CV DRl (“Opp’n”). And on October 4, 2017
petitioner filed a response. CV Dkt. 1 Rgsp.”). Having carefly considered th
parties arguments, the Coumdis and concludes as follows.
. LEGAL STANDARD

“Coramnobis is an extraordinary writ that usually is available only to
petitioners who have fully served their sentences.” United States v. Monre3g
F.3d 1127, 1131-32 (9th Cir. 2002) (citindifk, Inc. v. United States, 24 F.3d
42, 45 (9th Cir. 1994)). “Specificallghe writ provides a remedy for those
suffering from the lingering collaterabnsequences of an unconstitutional or

unlawful conviction based on errors of fact and egregious legake Estate of
McKinney v. United States, 71 F.3d 7781 (9th Cir. 1995) (citations and
guotation marks omitted)A petition for writ of errorcoram nobis “fills a very

precise gap in federal criminal proceélir Telink, 24 F.3d at 45 (explaining tha
while a convicted defendant in fedecailstody may petition for habeas relief un
28 U.S.C. § 2255, there is no statutory b&sisollaterally attack a conviction or
the sentence has been served). Att®authority to issue a writ of erreoram
nobis derives from the All Writs Act, 28 U.6. § 1651(a)._ Matus—Leva v. Units
States, 287 F.3d 758, 760 (9th Cir. 2002).

The Supreme Court and the Ninth @itchave both emphasized that “the
writ of error coram nobis a highly unusuaemedy, available only to correct gra

injustices in a narrow range of casehere no more conventional remedy is
applicable.” _United States v. Ried96 F.3d 1003, 1005 (9tbir. 2007) (citing
United States v. Morgan, 346 U.S. 502, $1954) (characterizing the writ as a

“extraordinary remedy” that shoulte granted “only under circumstances
3
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compelling such action to achieve justicahd_Carlisle v. United States, 517 U}

416, 429 (1996) (“[1]t is difficult to conceivef a situation in a federal criminal
case today where [a writ of coram nobis] wbbe necessary or appropriate.”)).
order to qualify forcoram nobisrelief, the petitioner must demonstrate that “(1
more usual remedy is not available; (2) valid reasons exist for not attacking
conviction earlier; (3) adverse consequeredst from the conviction sufficient
satisfy the case or controversy requiremeranicle Ill; and (4) the error is of th
most fundamental character.” HirabayiashJnited States, 828 F.2d 591, 604
Cir. 1987). “Because these requiremené&amjunctive, failuréo meet any one
of them is fatal.”_Matus—lea, 287 F.3d at 760 (citation omitted).
[ll. DISCUSSION

Petitioner seeks to vacate his conviction on several grounds, arguing

he received ineffective assistance of calibgcause his attorney failed to prep
for trial and failed to adeqtely advise him of the immigration consequences ¢
his plea; (2) his plea was involuntary besaie was under ertnanal distress; an
(3) the Court’s plea colloguy was defictdrecause the Court did not clearly
guestion petitioner about the factual Isaerr his plea. Pet. at 4-5. The
government contends that petitioner is not entitlesbtam nobis relief because |
cannot satisfy the first, send, and fourth Hirabayashigqeirements. Opp’n at 9
Specifically, the government argues thaj:lf&cause petitioner is currently sen
a term of supervised release, he remmdin custody” and thus the more usual
habeas remedy under § 2255 is availaf@gpetitioner has not provided valid
reasons for not attacking his conviction earlier; and (3) petitioner cannot shq
fundamental error because his claim @ffactive assistance of counsel fails or

the merits and this Court previouslyeaejed his challenges to the validity of the

plea. Id. at 9-17. Because the Courtagrthat petitioner cannot satisfy the fif
two, procedural Hirabayashi requiremenit Court need not reach the merits
petitioner’s claims.
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A. “A More Usual Remedy” Under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 is Available
Plaintiff has failed to demonsteathat “a more usual remedy is not
available.” Hirabayashi, 828 F.2d at 60Bhe Ninth Circuit has held that a fed¢
defendant who is subject to superviselase remains “in custody” and therefc

may seek habeas relief pursuan§ 8255. _Matus—Leva, 287 F.3d at 761 (citing

Jones v. Cunningham, 371 U.S. 236, 242-43638)). Thus, “[b]Jecause the mo
usual remedy of a habeas petition is available, the writ of @ram nobis is not.]

Id. This is true even if habeas réliender § 2255 is not available as a practical

matter because the petition would bedibarred under the Antiterrorism and
Effective Death Penalty Act (“AEDPA")See id. (“A petitioner may not resort
coram nobis merely because he has failednieet the AEDPA'’s gatekeeping
requirements. To hold otherwise wouwidcumvent the AEDPA'’s overall purpos
of expediting the presentation of claimd&deral court and @fle prisoners to
bypass the limitations and s@ssive petitions provisions.”)

Here, the Court sentenced petitiotee 68 months imprisonment followe
by a four-year term of supervised relea€d® Dkt. 764. P#ioner completed his
term of imprisonment on June 10, 2016, Re6, and accordingly remains subj
to supervised release until June 9, 20Z0us, because petitioner satisfies the
custody requirement of § 2255, the maseial remedy of a habeas petition is
available, and petitioner eardingly may not seeoram nobis relief. See Matus
Leva, 287 F.3d at 761. This is true rejess of the fact that petitioner was in
removal proceedings and dekad by ICE when he filed the petition on Novem
21, 2016._See United States v. Ndids@d Fed. App’'x 632, 633 (9th Cir. 2015
(holding that a petitioner who was releasemn federal prison satisfied the “in

custody” requirement under § 2255 becausevas still subject to a term of
supervised release even though hellexeh transferred to ICE custody and
charged as deportable); see also United States v. Swaby, 855 F.3d 233, 23

Cir. 2017) (findingcoram nobis petition invalid because the petitioner, who w3g
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“under supervised release and detainedrbyigration authorities,” had access
habeas relief under § 2255).

B. Petitioner Has Not Provided ValidReasons for Delayed Challenge

Petitioner has also failed to demonsrtitat “valid reasons exist for not
attacking the conviction earlier.”_Hibayashi, 828 F.2d at 604. Although no
formal statute of limitations applies toram nobis petitions, “courts have requir
coram nobis petitioners to provide valid or sound reasons explaining why th
not attack their sentences or convictieaslier.” United States v. Kwan, 407 F
1005, 1012 (9th Cir. 2005) (citationsnitted), abrogated on other grounds by
Padilla v. Kentucky, 559.S. 356 (2010). The Ninth Circuit also requires
petitioners to exercise due diligencgee Riedl, 496 F.3d at 1008 (citing Klein
United States, 880 F.2d 250, 254 (10th Cir. 1989) (dercorgm nobis relief
when there was a seven-year delay duwhgh the petitioner did not exercise |

diligence). Petitioner has not satisfied this requirement.

With respect to petitioner’s claimsahthe plea colloquy was deficient and

that his plea was involuntary, the Coalteady considered and rejected these
arguments when it denied petitioner’'s motion to withdraw his guilty plea. Se
Adolphus, 2008 WL 11301048 at *2—-3 (fingj that petitioner admitted there w
a factual basis for his guilty plea, atidt the record establishes there was
sufficient factual basis for the plea; azmhcluding that petitioner’s guilty plea v
voluntary and not the result of undue presesur emotional distress). Petitioner
did not challenge his conviction based on ineffective assistance of counsel
filed the instant petition on November 2Z816. This claim was not raised on

direct appeal or through a habeas petition pursuant to § 2255. Petitioner ar
that the delay was justified becausen®s in the custody of the U.S. Marshals
Service from April 2014 through May 2016 agavernment witnessPet. at 6.

Petitioner states he was not given prior c®bf his transfer, was unable to take
111

ed
ey did
3d

lue

e
as

/as

intil he

gues

> his




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

legal papers with him,ral had limited access to the law library while housed |
county jail. _Id.

Petitioner’s purported reason for the gelachallenging his conviction is
not persuasive, and a similar argument has been rejected by the Ninth Circl
Although petitioner may not haveeen able to pursue higeffective assistance g
counsel claim between April 2014 and M2316, he offers no explanation why
claim was not raised earlier on direppaal or through a 8§ 2255 petition within
statutory deadline. See Riedl, 496 FaBd 007 (rejecting petitioner’s justificatic
for delay based on her depatton because it did not explain why she did not
challenge her conviain prior to being deported or Wéshe was still imprisonec
Accordingly, the Court concludeisat petitioner in not entitled twram nobis
relief because he kaffered no valid reasonsrfthe delay in attacking his
conviction.

V. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the CoMENIES the petition for writ of error

coram nobis.
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IT IS SO ORDERED. Rhvotiie [ %L

Dated: October 18, 2017 .
CHRISTINAA. SNYDER
UNITEDSTATESDISTRICT JUDGE




